S261247

In The Supreme Court

OF THE

State of California

LYNN GRANDE Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

EISENHOWER MEDICAL CENTER Defendant and Petitioner.

FLEXCARE, LLC Intervener and Appellant.

On Review from the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two Appeal Nos. E068730 and E068751

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County Honorable Sharon J. Waters Case Number RIC1514281

EISENHOWER MEDICAL CENTER'S OPENING MERITS BRIEF

I. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

May a class of workers bring a wage and hour class action against a staffing agency, settle that lawsuit with a stipulated judgment that releases all of the staffing agency's agents, and then bring a second class action premised on the same alleged wage and hour violations against the staffing agency's client?

II. INTRODUCTION

Based on indistinguishable facts, two courts of appeal have come to opposite holdings as to the issue presented, requiring this Court to resolve the conflict. The issue arises in the temporary staffing agency context. Hospitals such as Eisenhower Medical Center (Eisenhower) typically supplement their nursing staffs with temporary employees from staffing agencies who are essential to meet their fluctuating needs. The employees take advantage of the flexible employment opportunities temporary staffing agencies and their clients provide. The staffing agencies, the client-hospitals and the employees mutually benefit from these arrangements. And importantly, temporary employees are afforded all the protections of the state and federal employment and tax laws, including California's wage-hour laws, through the combined efforts of the staffing agencies and their clients. The healthcare industry depends on staffing agencies to provide critically needed healthcare workers.

Lynn Grande (Grande) was an employee of the temporary staffing agency, FlexCare, LLC (FlexCare), for nine days in 2012. During that time, FlexCare assigned her to work exclusively for Eisenhower as a "traveling nurse." After that short employment, she sued FlexCare for a litany of wage-hour violations on behalf of a putative class of employees assigned to hospitals. Ultimately, Grande settled all of her class and

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -10-

individual claims against FlexCare and others encompassed by the settlement, including all of FlexCare's "agents" and "representatives." FlexCare then paid approximately \$700,000 in exchange for a release covering "any and all claims ... which have been or could have reasonably been asserted in the Action." The settlement was approved by the superior court and incorporated into a final judgment.

Grande then brought a second class action against Eisenhower for the very same alleged wage and hour violations she had settled against FlexCare and others. Not only were the alleged violations identical. Her allegations were based on precisely the same hours she worked during her nine days of work in 2012, and the same meal and rest period, timekeeping and pay practices. She further alleged Eisenhower and FlexCare were her joint employers.

Based on facts indistinguishable from those here, the Court of Appeal in *Castillo v. Glenair, Inc.* (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 262 (*Castillo*) held that the second lawsuit is barred on two alternative grounds – (1) the employer-client was the agent of the staffing agency for purposes of the settlement, and (2) the employer-client and the staffing agency were in privity so that the judgment on the settlement agreement was res judicata as to the employer-client. If *Castillo's* holdings were applied here, Grande's second lawsuit against Eisenhower would be dismissed. Eisenhower was FlexCare's agent and therefore Grande released her wage-hour claims against Eisenhower. Alternatively, the same facts creating agency establish privity between FlexCare and Eisenhower and res judicata applies. Thus, based *either* on Grande's release in the settlement agreement or on res judicata, her lawsuit against Eisenhower is barred under *Castillo*.

The Court of Appeal here shifted from its tentative opinion in Eisenhower's favor and rejected both of *Castillo's* holdings. Instead, the

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -11-

Court held that Eisenhower was not FlexCare's agent and therefore not a released party under the settlement agreement. The Court further held the two were not in privity so that res judicata does not apply to bar Grande's second action. (*Grande v. Eisenhower Medical Center* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 1147 (*Grande*).)

The Castillo holdings correctly address the triangular relationship between a staffing agency, its client, and the employees who must be protected through the combined and interdependent efforts of each of the three parties. Under this unique arrangement, the staffing agency hires and pays the employees while the hospital-client provides meal and rest periods, assigns work and any overtime and records work time and meal periods so the staffing agency can properly pay the employees. Consequently, the staffing agency's and client's roles are inextricably intertwined with regard to wage-hour compliance. Both must work in tandem so that the staffing agency can fulfill its myriad of wage-hour responsibilities to properly pay the employees in compliance with California law. Therefore, relying on this Court's decision in *DKN* Holdings LLC v. Faerber (2015) 61 Cal.4th 813 (DKN Holdings), and other precedents, Castillo concluded that the staffing agency and its client were in privity based on the "interdependent relationship" with respect to matters of wage-hour compliance as well as the fact that the litigation revolves around alleged errors in the payment of wages. (Castillo, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 280.)

As in *Castillo*, when Grande released FlexCare and its agents she also released Eisenhower. Similarly, FlexCare and Eisenhower are in privity with respect to Grande's wage-hour claims. Either way, her second action is barred. The judgment should be reversed based either on the settlement agreement and release, on application of res judicata, or both.

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -12-

III. RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Parties

FlexCare is a staffing agency that assigns nurses to work at healthcare facilities on a temporary basis. (2 Petitioner's Appendix [PA] 420 ¶¶ 1-2.) Eisenhower operates a not-for-profit hospital in Rancho Mirage, California and is one of FlexCare's clients. (2 PA 420 ¶¶ 3-4, 424 ¶ 3.) Eisenhower contracts with staffing agencies like FlexCare to meet its fluctuating nursing needs. (3 PA 635:9-636:8.) In 2007, Eisenhower and FlexCare executed a Supplemental Staffing Agreement (Staffing Agreement), pursuant to which FlexCare selected and assigned employees to perform work directly for the hospital. (2 PA 420 ¶ 3; 3 PA 602:25-603:12; 4 PA 898-910.) Eisenhower, in turn, would act as FlexCare's agent by directly exercising control over the hours and working conditions of the nurses assigned to it by FlexCare. (1 PA 19-20 ¶ 7; 3 PA 605:24-606:9; 4 PA 900-901 ¶¶ 4.1-4.5, 903 ¶ 6.8.2, 990, 1062-1064.) Grande was an employee of FlexCare for just nine days in 2012. (2 PA 420 ¶ 9.) During those nine days, FlexCare assigned Grande to work exclusively at Eisenhower as a "traveling nurse." (2 PA 420 ¶¶ 8-10.)

B. FlexCare's and Eisenhower's Highly Interdependent Relationship

Eisenhower and FlexCare were interdependent on each other such that it took their combined efforts and intertwined responsibilities to provide employees the protections imposed under the state and federal laws. (1 PA 19-20 ¶ 7; 3 PA 601:18-602:14, 605:24-606:9; 4 PA 898-910, 989-990, 1062-1064.) As an example, FlexCare asked Eisenhower to create and furnish FlexCare with records of employees' work time and meal periods so that FlexCare could identify and fulfill the wage-hour

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -13-

obligations at the heart of both Grande's lawsuits. (1 PA 20 ¶ 7.j; 4 PA 597:3-15, 605:24-606:9, 640:6-11, 901 ¶ 5.2, 903 ¶ 6.8.3, 990.)

In order to allocate legal responsibilities, the Staffing Agreement provides that "[s]taff assigned by [FlexCare] to [Eisenhower] under this Agreement are employees of [FlexCare] and are not employees or agents of [Eisenhower]." (4 PA 901 ¶ 5.1.) Under their agreement, FlexCare retained "s[o]le, exclusive and total legal responsibility as the employer of Staff," including primary responsibility for compliance with all wage and hour laws. (*Ibid.*) The Staffing Agreement required Eisenhower to pay specific rates to FlexCare for the hours of work by each category of supplemental personnel FlexCare provided. (4 PA 903-905 ¶¶ 7.1.1-7.1.10, 909.) In turn, FlexCare paid employees the hourly rates it separately negotiated with the employees and placed in their contracts. (3 PA 605:24-606:9; 4 PA 989-990.) The Staffing Agreement required FlexCare to indemnify Eisenhower "against any and all" legal claims asserted against Eisenhower that arise from a breach of the agreement by FlexCare or which are predicated on allegations that FlexCare employees were jointly or otherwise employed by Eisenhower. (4 PA 901 ¶ 5.3.)

Because FlexCare and Eisenhower were interdependent on one another to be sure employees were properly paid and California's requirements were met, each company was required to perform various functions. (4 PA 898-910.) Some of the responsibilities were delegated to Eisenhower because FlexCare did not have on-site personnel at the hospital. (*Ibid.*, 1 PA 19 ¶ 7.a; 3 PA 601:18-28.) For instance, Eisenhower directly supervised nurses, provided them meal and rest periods, approved their hours of work and any overtime and created and submitted to FlexCare the time records used to document the nurses' hours and meal periods. (1 PA 19-20 ¶ 7; 3 PA 605:24-606:9; 4 PA 900-901 ¶¶ 4.1-4.5,

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -14-

903 ¶ 6.8.2, 990, 1062-1064.) Given the interdependence of FlexCare and Eisenhower, the Staffing Agreement required FlexCare's nurses to use Eisenhower's time and attendance system and to comply with all of Eisenhower's policies and procedures. (4 PA 901 ¶ 4.4, 903 ¶ 6.8.2.) FlexCare's agreements with individual nurses required that their timesheets be reviewed and verified by an Eisenhower representative, to "[c]onform and adapt" to Eisenhower's schedules and policies, including with respect to meal and rest periods. (3 PA 605:24-606:9; 4 PA 990.) FlexCare, for its part, was obligated to administer benefits and process the weekly payroll for its nurses based on their reported hours worked. (3 PA 597:3-15, 640:6-11; 4 PA 901 ¶ 5.2.)

Grande recognizes the roles Eisenhower and FlexCare played in ensuring she got paid consistent with California law. Grande alleges that Eisenhower controlled the work schedules and working conditions of employment of FlexCare nurses, "who were required to report to [Eisenhower] and follow [its] directions." (1 PA 19 ¶ 7.b.) Grande alleges that Eisenhower "instructed [Grande] and other [FlexCare nurses] when and/or where to work once they arrived at [Eisenhower]'s work sites" and "had the power to instruct [Grande] and other [FlexCare nurses] when and whether to take meal and rest periods." (1 PA 19-20 ¶¶ 7.f & 7.h.) Grande also acknowledges that Eisenhower "provided the forms and systems in which the details of the performance of [Grande] and other [FlexCare nurses] were recorded." (1 PA 20 ¶ 7.j.)

C. The *Erlandsen* Action and Settlement

One of FlexCare's employee nurses, Christina Erlandsen, filed a class action and PAGA action against FlexCare in Santa Barbara County Superior Court in 2012. (*Christina Erlandsen v. Flexcare LLC*, Santa Barbara Superior Court Case No. 1390595 [*Erlandsen*]; 2 PA 421 ¶ 12; 4

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -15-

PA 1084-1121.)¹ A year later, Grande joined *Erlandsen* as a named plaintiff and putative class representative. (2 PA 421 ¶ 14.) The operative third amended complaint in *Erlandsen* asserted causes of action for: (1) failure to pay compensation due for hours worked; (2) failure to pay meal period wages; (3) failure to pay rest period wages; (4) failure to pay waiting time wages; and (5) violation of Business and Professions Code section 17203. (1 PA 114-139; 2 PA 421 ¶ 18.) Each of Grande's claims against FlexCare in *Erlandsen* was predicated solely on her short assignment at Eisenhower, and Grande was represented by the same attorneys who represent her in this case. (1 PA 17; 2 PA 421 ¶¶ 15-16; 5 PA 1352:9-17.) Grande did not name Eisenhower as a party in *Erlandsen*. (2 PA 424 ¶ 33.)

On January 28, 2014, Grande and FlexCare signed an agreement to settle the class and PAGA claims alleged in *Erlandsen* against FlexCare as well as its agents and others. (1 PA 79-112; 2 PA 421 ¶ 19.) This naturally included the *only* claims Grande had alleged – those arising from her work at Eisenhower. (1 PA 83 ¶ FF; 2 PA 421 ¶ 15, 422 ¶ 23.) The *Erlandsen* settlement provides that all class members "release the Released Parties from the Released Claims" and broadly defines "Released Claims" as: "any and all claims, causes of action, debts, liabilities, demands, obligations, guarantees or damages, in law or equity, tort or in contract, by statute, pursuant to case law, or otherwise, *which have been or could have reasonably been asserted* in the [*Erlandsen*] Action or in any other state or federal court, administrative tribunal, or in arbitration or similar proceeding, based upon, or arising out of, or related to the allegations in the [*Erlandsen*] Action during the Class Period." (1 PA 83 ¶ FF, 89:2-3; 2 PA

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -16-

¹ Erlandsen is referred to in the court of appeal opinion and some of the parties' prior briefing as "the Santa Barbara action."

422 ¶ 23, emphasis added.) The *Erlandsen* settlement also releases all PAGA claims as proxy for the Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) and the State of California. (*Ibid.*) The settlement expressly releases FlexCare's "agents" and "representatives" by defining the following as "Released Parties:"

FlexCare, LLC, Vantus, LLC, Christopher Truxal, Travis Mannon, Michael Kenji Fields, and Nathan Porter [the named defendants], and all present and former subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, related or affiliated companies, parent companies, franchisors, franchisees, shareholders, and attorneys, and their respective successors and predecessors in interest, all of their respective officers, directors, employees, administrators, fiduciaries, trustees and agents, and each of their past, present and future officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents, principals, heirs, representatives, accountants, auditors, consultants, insureds and reinsurers, and their counsel of record.

(1 PA 83 ¶ GG; 2 PA 422-423 ¶ 24.)

On April 8, 2015, the Santa Barbara Superior Court approved the *Erlandsen* class-wide settlement and entered judgment. (1 PA 165-170; 2 PA 423 ¶ 27.) The certified class was defined in the *Erlandsen* judgment as "all persons who at any time from or after January 30, 2008, through April 8, 2014, were non-exempt nursing employees of FlexCare, LLC employed in California." (1 PA 166 ¶ 6.) The class plainly encompassed Grande and all nurses assigned by FlexCare to Eisenhower. (*Ibid.*; 2 PA 420-21 ¶¶ 8-10.) The judgment incorporated the settlement agreement's definitions of "Released Parties" and "Released Claims," which encompasses all claims that "could have reasonably been asserted in" *Erlandsen*. (1 PA 167-168 ¶¶ 11-12; 2 PA 423-424 ¶¶ 30-31.) The judgment stated that "the Released Claims of each and every Class Member and Settlement Class Member, respectively, are and shall be deemed to be conclusively released as against

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -17-

the Released Parties[.]" (1 PA 167 \P 10; 2 PA 423 \P 29.) The State's related PAGA claims were included in the settlement. (1 PA 167 \P 12; 2 PA 423 \P 30.)

FlexCare paid \$700,000 in satisfaction of the *Erlandsen* settlement, which included a \$20,000 class representative incentive payment to Grande, \$162.13 reflecting her pro rata share of the settlement proceeds distributed to the class and her PAGA allocation. (2 PA 423 ¶¶ 26 & 28; 3 PA 613:20-25; 4 PA 982; 6 PA 1397:17-19, 1398:19-1399:18, 1400:15-24.) Grande's entire employment with FlexCare and her corresponding assignment to Eisenhower (nine days in 2012) was during the January 30, 2008 to April 8, 2014 release period in *Erlandsen*. (1 PA 166 ¶ 6; 2 PA 420-21 ¶¶ 8-10; 5 PA 1352:9-17.) Grande does not dispute that the payments she received (along with the wages she was previously paid) fully satisfied all wage claims flowing from her nine-day assignment.

D. The Present Action

On December 3, 2015, after judgment was entered in *Erlandsen*, Grande filed a second putative class action, this time against Eisenhower in Riverside County Superior Court, asserting identical claims for the same nine-day assignment as those alleged and settled in *Erlandsen*. (*Lynn Grande v. Eisenhower Medical Center*, Riverside Superior Court Case No. RIC1514281 [*Grande*]; 1 PA 17-32; 2 PA 425 ¶ 43.) This time Grande's complaint alleged that Eisenhower and FlexCare jointly employed her during her work at Eisenhower. (1 PA 19-20 ¶ 7.) Grande defined her proposed class to encompass those in the settlement class in *Erlandsen* who had worked at Eisenhower. (1 PA 21 ¶ 14, 166 ¶ 6.) The proposed class includes: "All persons who at any time during the applicable period of limitations through the date of trial were non-exempt employees who were staffed by [Eisenhower] through third party registries, temporary

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -18-

employment services, temporary employment agencies, staffing agencies and services, or other employment agencies ... at Eisenhower Medical Center health provider facilities."² (1 PA 21 ¶ 14.) Eisenhower filed an answer on March 22, 2016, asserting res judicata and release as affirmative defenses. (1 PA 35, 39 ¶ 10, 41 ¶ 18.)

On January 4, 2016, Eisenhower sent a letter and a copy of the *Grande* complaint to FlexCare demanding that FlexCare indemnify Eisenhower pursuant to the Staffing Agreement. (2 PA 425 ¶ 44, 430-448.) FlexCare responded by intervening in *Grande* for the purpose of asserting that the claims against Eisenhower were barred by the *Erlandsen* settlement and judgment. (1 PA 45-50.) FlexCare's intervention was based, in part, on the fact that the *Erlandsen* settlement fully extinguished all claims "which have been or could have reasonably been asserted in" *Erlandsen*, including claims against Eisenhower that FlexCare would be obligated to indemnify. (*Ibid.*)

From February 3, 2017 though February 7, 2017, the trial court held a short bifurcated trial, largely on stipulated facts, on the issue of whether the *Erlandsen* settlement and/or judgment precluded Grande's claims against Eisenhower. (2 PA 384-408; 3 PA 557-698; 6 PA 1418-1469.) A FlexCare representative testified unambiguously the *Erlandsen* settlement was intended to release Eisenhower and to mean FlexCare was "done with this ... done with all of it for everybody." (3 PA 616:16-23.)

On May 26, 2017, the trial court issued a statement of decision concluding that Eisenhower was not a released party under the *Erlandsen* settlement and that res judicata did not apply. (7 PA 1664-1690.) The trial

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -19-

² The complaint does not mention the *Erlandsen* case and the settlement and release. (1 PA 17-32.)

court entered judgment on FlexCare's complaint in intervention on June 14, 2017. (7 PA 1749-1750.) At Eisenhower's request, the trial court issued an order under Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1 finding that its statement of decision presented a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion and that immediate appellate resolution would materially advance the conclusion of the litigation. (7 PA 1755-1756.)

FlexCare timely appealed the trial court's judgment on its complaint in intervention, and Eisenhower petitioned for a writ of mandate. (7 PA 1761.) The court of appeal issued an order to show cause on Eisenhower's writ petition and consolidated the writ proceedings with FlexCare's appeal. In a 2-1 split decision, the court of appeal reversed its tentative decision in Eisenhower and FlexCare's favor and instead affirmed the trial court and denied Eisenhower's writ petition.

This Court granted review on May 13, 2020.

IV. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Fourth District Court of Appeal had jurisdiction over FlexCare's appeal pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(1). (See *Justus v. Atchison* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 564, 568 [in multiparty action judgment or order final as to one party is appealable by that party], disapproved on another ground by *Ochoa v. Superior Court* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 159, 171.) The court of appeal had jurisdiction over Eisenhower's petition for writ of mandate pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1085 and Cal. Const. art. VI, § 10. Eisenhower's writ petition became a "cause" in the court of appeal when the court issued an order to show cause. (See *People v. Medina* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 484, 490.)

This Court has jurisdiction under Cal. Const. art. VI, § 12, subdivision b.

SMRH:4844-9395-6548 -20-

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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