Case No. S261247

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Lynn Grande, Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

Eisenhower Medical Center, *Defendant*;

FlexCare LLC, Intervenor and Appellant.

Eisenhower Medical Center. Petitioner

v.

Superior Court of Riverside County, Respondent;

Lynn Grande, Real Party in Interest

On Review from the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two 4th Civil Nos. E068730 and E068751

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County Honorable Hon. Sharon J. Waters, Judge, Case Number RIC1514281

LYNN GRANDE'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

This Court went on to explain that joint and several liability is to be distinguished from derivative liability where claim preclusion may be applied:

When a defendant's liability *is entirely derived* from that of a party in an earlier action, claim preclusion bars the second action because the second defendant stands in privity with the earlier one. [Citations omitted.] The nature of derivative liability so closely aligns the separate defendants' interests that they are treated as identical parties. [Citation omitted.] Derivative liability supporting preclusion has been found between a corporation and its employees (*Sartor v. Superior Court* (1982) 136 Cal.App.3d 322, 328 [187 Cal.Rptr. 247]; Lippert, at p. 382), a general contractor and subcontractors (*Thibodeau v. Crum* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 749, 757 [6 Cal.Rptr.2d 27]), an association of securities dealers and member agents (*Brinton*, at pp. 557-558), and among alleged coconspirators (*Richard B. LeVine, Inc.*, at p. 579). (DKN, *supra*, at 827-828.)

Because Eisenhower was alleged to be a joint employer with FlexCare and they are therefore joint and several obligors, they are not "in privity" for purposes of claim preclusion. As this Court in *DKN Holdings* expressly

held: "joint and several obligors are not considered to be in privity for purposes of issue or claim preclusion. (*Id.*, at 820).)

In *Gottlieb v. Kest* (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 110, 154 [46 Cal.Rptr.3d 7, 38], the court rejected an identical contention by the defendant in that case. In *McCray-Key v. Sutter Health Sacramento Sierra Region* (E.D. Cal., Nov. 2, 2015, 2:15-CV-1514-JAM-CKD) 2015 WL 6703585, at *2-3, the district court, in an essentially identical fact-pattern to this case, applied *DKN Holdings* and held that a subsequent suit by an employee against the hospital where she had been assigned to work by a staffing company was not barred by *res judicata* when the employee settled her action against the staffing company and dismissed the action with prejudice.

Here, Grande was *not* attempting to hold Eisenhower *derivatively* liable for FlexCare's violation of the Labor Code. Indeed, the liability of one employer is not "derivative" of a joint employer's liability. Rather, existing state and federal case law supports the view that joint employer liability is joint and several, with each employer having a separate and independent duty to comply with the Labor Code. As such, the situation is analogous to that of co-obligors under a contract discussed in *DKN Holdings*.

In *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35 [109 Cal.Rptr.3d 514, 231 P.3d 259], *as modified (June 9, 2010)*, the Court implicitly noted that every "employer" is liable to an employee for failure to pay minimum wages due to an employee. Implicit in the court's analysis is the recognition that section 1194 permits an employee with multiple employers to seek recovery of unpaid wages from any of them. The Court concluded that such liability attaches as the result of section 1194, which imposes a duty on every employer to ensure its employees receive minimum wage and overtime compensation. There is simply nothing "derivative" about a joint employer's liability for its labor code violations that is "dependent" on a

finding of liability of another alleged "employer." Instead, each employer is jointly and severally liable as an "employer."

The Court in *Martinez* also held that merely because a produce merchant had a contractual relationship with the actual employer, such relationship did not make the merchant an "employer" of the workers. Rather, the merchant had to exercise sufficient control over the wages, hours, or working conditions of the workers to be considered their "employer" of the employees, and in that case, the merchant did not. (*Id.*, 49 Cal.4th at 71-74.)

Here, the existence of the contractual relationship between Eisenhower and FlexCare did not impose "derivative" liability on Eisenhower for FlexCare's wrongful acts. Indeed, Eisenhower, merely because of its contractual relationship with FlexCare, would not be liable for FlexCare's violations of its obligations to Grande as Grande's employer.

Neither FlexCare nor Eisenhower even attempt to credibly explain how Eisenhower's liability as an "employer" is "solely derivative" of FlexCare's liability as an employer. Indeed, the law is clear that each "joint employer's liability is joint and several. "Separate persons or entities that share control over an individual worker may be deemed joint employers under the FLSA." (*Schultz v. Capital Intern. Sec., Inc.* (4th Cir. 2006) 466 F.3d 298, 305; *Falk v. Brennan* (1973) 414 U.S. 190, 195 [94 S.Ct. 427, 431, 38 L.Ed.2d 406] (observing in a FLSA case that apartment building maintenance workers were employed by both building management company and building owners).) "[A]ll joint employers are responsible, both individually and jointly, for compliance with all of the applicable provisions of the [FLSA], including the overtime provisions." (29 C.F.R. § 791.2(a)).

Numerous courts have found joint liability for unpaid wages against multiple employers in various contexts. (*Real v. Driscoll Strawberry Associates, Inc.* (9th Cir. 1979) 603 F.2d 748, 754 (wage claim against joint employer decided under the Federal FLSA wage and hour laws); *Bonnette v. California Health and Welfare Agency* (9th Cir. 1983) 704 F.2d 1465, 1470 *disapproved of on other grounds by Garcia v. San Antonio Metropolitan Transit Authority* (1985) 469 U.S. 528 [105 S.Ct. 1005, 83 L.Ed.2d 1016] (wage claim decided in favor of employees against joint employer under the Federal F.L.S.A. wage and hour laws); *Michael Hat Farming Co. v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 1037, 1043 [6 Cal.Rptr.2d 179] ("It is established that some farming operations have multiple, joint agricultural employers.") *citing Rivcom Corp. v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 743, 768 [195 Cal.Rptr. 651, 670 P.2d 305].)

No court has intimated, let alone held, that one joint employer can avoid its responsibilities simply because there is another joint employer. In *Benton v. Telecom Network Specialists, Inc.* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 701, 728 [163 Cal.Rptr.3d 415, 436], for the example, the Court of Appeal held that merely because one joint employer may have "provided" meal and rest periods to employees, it did not relieve the other joint employer from its obligations:

This assumption, however, is not supported by the language of the wage order, which imposes an affirmative obligation on every employer to authorize and provide legally required meal and rest breaks; if it fails to do so, it has violated the law and is liable."

(See also Hodgson v. Griffin & Brand of McAllen, Inc. (5th Cir. 1973) 471 F.2d 235, 238 ("Viewing the total work arrangement, we agree with the district court that appellant was a joint employer and thus responsible for the violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act.").)

If it were true that Plaintiff's claims against Eisenhower were "derivative" of Plaintiff's claims against FlexCare, then it would follow that Eisenhower would necessarily be vicariously liable for FlexCare's violations – a proposition that neither FlexCare nor Eisenhower has espoused.

Contrary to FlexCare's contention, Eisenhower and FlexCare's relationship is not akin to the general contractor-subcontractor relationship discussed in *Thibodeau v. Crum* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 749 [6 Cal.Rptr.2d 27]. In their contracts, FlexCare and Eisenhower agreed that FlexCare was *an independent contractor*, not a subcontractor. Moreover, in *Thibodeau*, the claim against the general contractor for alleged construction deficiencies in the construction of the driveway that was arbitrated was based on alleged failures by the subcontractor.

Here, Grande did not claim that FlexCare was liable solely because of Eisenhower's acts or that Eisenhower could be liable solely because of FlexCare's acts. Rather, if both FlexCare and Eisenhower are "employers" under California law, each is *independently* liable for its violations as an employer. There is simply no derivative or vicarious liability of Eisenhower for the acts of FlexCare or of Eisenhower for the acts of FlexCare based solely on their contractual relationship.

B. The *Castillo* Court's conclusion that privity "deals with a person's relationship to the subject matter of the litigation" is directly contrary to *DKN Holdings*.

In *Castillo*, the Court concluded: "Put another way, privity, ' "as used in the context of res judicata or collateral estoppel, does not embrace relationships between persons or entities, but rather it deals with a person's relationship *to the subject matter of the litigation*." ' "(*Castillo*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 277.)

This aberrational holding cannot be reconciled with this Court's holding in *DKN Holdings*, however. In *DKN Holdings*, the "subject matter of litigation" was one lease and the breach of the parties' obligations under such lease. Thus, were the *Castillo* Court's *res judicata* "test" applied by this Court in *DKN Holdings*, this Court would have necessarily found "privity" between the defendants. It did not, however, and in fact expressly held that there was no privity because the defendants were jointly and severally liable for the obligations sued upon.

Moreover, in any case involving claims against multiple parties that involve allegations of joint and several liability, the "subject matter of the litigation" is always the same, *e.g.*, the same contractual obligation (as in *DKN Holdings*), the same tort, the same violation by an employer and joint employer of the plaintiff's rights under the Labor Code. This Court held in *DKN Holdings* that the fact that the litigation involved the same subject matter was irrelevant. (*Id.* at 823–25.)

The *Castillo* Court's privity test is also directly contrary to that enunciated by this Court in *Bernhard v. Bank of America Nat. Trust & Savings Ass'n* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 807, 811 [122 P.2d 892, 894], in which the Court held:

Under the requirement of privity, only parties to the former judgment or their privies may take advantage of or be bound by it. Ibid. A party in this connection is one who is 'directly interested in the subject matter, and had a right to make defense, or to control the proceeding, and to appeal from the judgment.' 1 Greenleaf, Evidence, 15th Ed., sec. 523. See cases cited in 2 Black, Judgments, 2d Ed., sec. 534; 15 R.C.L. 1009; 9 Va.L.Reg.(N.S.) 241, 242; 15 Cal.Jur. 190; 34 C.J. 992. A privy is one who, after rendition of the judgment, has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by the judgment through or under one of the parties, as by inheritance, succession, or purchase. See cases cited in 2 Black, Judgments, 2d Ed., sec. 549; 35 Yale L.J. 607, 608; 34 C.J. 973, 1010, 1012; 15 R.C.L. 1016. The estoppel is mutual if the one taking advantage of the earlier adjudication would have been bound by it, had it gone against him.

The Court stated that the concept of privity was dependent on the concept of "derivative liability":

The courts of most jurisdictions have in effect accomplished the same result by recognizing a broad exception to the requirements of mutuality and privity, namely, that they are not necessary where the liability of the defendant asserting the plea of res judicata is dependent upon or derived from the liability of one who was exonerated in an earlier suit brought by the same plaintiff upon the same facts. See cases cited in 35 Yale L.J. 607, 610; 9 Va.L.Reg.(N.S.) 241, 245–247; 29 Ill.L.Rev. 93, 94; 18 N.Y.U.L.Q.R. 565, 566, 567; 34 C.J. 988, 989. Typical examples of such derivative liability are master and servant, principal and agent, and indemnitor and indemnitee. (*Id.*, at 812.)

Here, Plaintiff's claims against Eisenhower as an employer are not derivative of FlexCare's liability as an employer. Rather, both FlexCare and Eisenhower are jointly and severally liable for their violations of their independent legal obligations. Thus, Plaintiff's claims against Eisenhower are not barred by the Judgment in the Santa Barbara Action.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S EXPRESS FACTUAL FINDINGS, MADE AFTER A TRIAL AND THE CONSIDERATION OF DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY, THAT EISENHOWER WAS NOT FLEXCARE'S AGENT.

As discussed above, on Eisenhower's motion, the trial court bifurcated the released party and *res judicata* issues from all other issues and held a limited bench trial. (*Grande v. Eisenhower Medical Center* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 1147, 1156 [258 Cal.Rptr.3d 324, 330].) After trial, the trial court ruled Eisenhower was *not* a released party. The trial court reached that conclusion based on the language of the settlement agreement, which did not mention Eisenhower or the category of FlexCare's hospital clients. Instead, the settlement named FlexCare, its officers and a corporate alter ego, and then added standard settlement language to release general categories of people and groups, like affiliated companies, principals or agents of FlexCare. The trial court held that Eisenhower did not fit any of

these latter categories and concluded as a *matter of fact* that Eisenhower was not an "agent" or "related or affiliated company" of FlexCare under the Released Parties clause of the settlement. (*Id.*)

A. Eisenhower and FlexCare have not met their burden of proving that there was no substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that Eisenhower was not FlexCare's agent.

FlexCare and Eisenhower contended at trial that Eisenhower was FlexCare's "agent" within the "Released Parties" definition in the Judgment in the Santa Barbara Action. After considering the extrinsic evidence presented by the parties on the issues, however, the trial court expressly found that Eisenhower was *not* FlexCare's agent.

As discussed below, FlexCare and Eisenhower have flagrantly violated their legal burden to discuss *all* the evidence introduced at trial on this issue and instead focus solely on the evidence that they contend supports their contentions. By failing to do so, they have *waived* any argument that substantial evidence does not support the trial court's findings. Moreover, if this Court independently reviews the evidence at trial, it is clear that substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings.

1. By failing to discuss all evidence presented on the issues, Eisenhower and FlexCare have waived their challenge that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's findings.

FlexCare and Eisenhower, in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support the trial court's factual findings, are required to address all the evidence submitted at the trial. (*See Doe v. Roman Catholic Archbishop of Cashel & Emly* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 209, 218 [99 Cal.Rptr.3d 158, 165], *as modified (Sept. 24, 2009)*, ["[a] party who challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a finding must set forth, discuss, and analyze all the evidence on that point, both favorable and unfavorable"].)

Contrary to this fundamental tenet of appellate practice, FlexCare and Eisenhower fail to cite much of the unfavorable evidence set forth above or have done so in a self-serving, sanitized manner. In essence, FlexCare and Eisenhower have presented a one-sided version of the facts and asked this Court to reweigh the evidence in their favor. By doing so, FlexCare and Eisenhower have waived any such challenge. "When a party challenges on appeal the sufficiency of evidence, the party must discuss all the evidence supporting the court's ruling or the party waives the point." (Gombiner v. Swartz (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1365, 1374 [85 Cal.Rptr.3d 83, 91]; Oliver v. Board of Trustees (1986) 181 Cal.App.3d 824, 832 [227 Cal.Rptr. 1].)

Moreover, as discussed below, the evidence presented at trial was clearly sufficient to support the trial court's findings.

2. There was substantial evidence to support the trial court's factual finding that Eisenhower was not FlexCare's agent.

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